STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Sumter County

Honorable William Jeffrey Young, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JACQUELINE MESIDOR,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2015-001160

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JOHN H. STROM
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

APR 17 2017

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Appellant's Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination was violated by the introduction at trial of her video-taped statement to police where Trooper James O'Donnell told Appellant that police were ready to arrest her for conspiracy, failure to render aid, and accessory after the fact arising out of a hit and run accident and that, as a result of her imminent arrest, police were going to "lock-up" her house and SCDSS was going to take custody of her children.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 11, 2013, the Sumter County Grand Jury indicted Appellant Jacqueline Latrisha Mesidor for leaving the scene of an accident resulting death. R. 386 – 387.

On May 18, 2015, Appellant proceeded to trial before the Honorable Jeffery Young and a jury. S. Elaine Cooke represented Appellant, and Assistant Solicitors Scott Matthews and John P. Meadors represented the State. The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 381, ll. 5-16. The trial court sentenced Appellant to twelve years imprisonment.

ARGUMENT

Appellant's Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination was violated by the introduction at trial of her video-taped statement to police where Trooper James O'Donnell told Appellant that police were ready to arrest her for conspiracy, failure to render aid, and accessory after the fact arising out of a hit and run accident and that, as a result of her imminent arrest, police were going to "lock-up" her house and SCDSS was going to take custody of her children.

Relevant Facts

Just after midnight on April 13, 2013, Charles Dennis left a rural nightclub outside of Rembert in Sumter County on his motorcycle. R. 83, l. 1 - 86, l. 16. He headed south on Highway 521. As he approached the intersection of Highway 521 with Dinkins Mill Road, a blue sedan pulled out in front of him. *Id.*

Dennis was unable to stop his motorcycle in time. He skidded down to the pavement and his motorcycle struck the front left side of the sedan as it was crossing over Highway 521. R. 178, l. 2 - 191, l. 11. At this intersection, Dinkins Mill Road has a stop sign and traffic traveling down Highway 521 has the right of way. *Id.*

Christopher Ikner, who lived at the intersection of Highway 521 and Dinkins Mills Road, was awoken by the sound of the collision. He rushed outside and saw a blue sedan stopped on on Dinkins Mill Road just past the intersection. R. 82, l. 13 - 84, l. 21. Standing on his front porch, he saw something lying in the road behind the car. *Id.*

Ikner testified at trial that the car continued a short distance down Dinkins Mills Road and then changed directions heading back towards the intersection. *Id.* Once the blue sedan reached the intersection, it turned north onto Highway 521 at a high rate of speed. *Id.* As Ikner approached the intersection he realized that there was a body in the road and ran back to his house to call 911. R. 87, ll. 2-24.

Dennis died as a result of injuries sustained in the accident. R. 316, ll. 3-13. At the collision scene police recovered a blue plastic bumper with Chevrolet markings on it. R. 238, l. 2 - 239, l. 20. Based on the part number found in the bumper and discussions with a local car dealership, police determined that the bumper came from a 2005 Chevrolet Impala. *Id.*

Trooper O'Donnell then contacted the SLED fusion center in Columbia which provided, based on DMV records, a list of owners of blue 2005 Chevrolet Impalas who lived within thirty to forty miles of the accident scene. R. 244, l. 13 - 245, l. 18. O'Donnell and other law enforcement distributed a flyer in the area around the accident asking for information about people who owned a blue Impala. R. 245, l. 10 - 246, l. 16.

A short time later, O'Donnell received a call from another state trooper notifying him that several officers were at Appellant's house and had found a blue 2005 Impala with damage to its front bumper in the yard. *Id.* Appellant was home at the time and talking to the other officer's when Trooper O'Donnell arrived. R. 249, ll. 9-16.

Police Interrogation of Appellant

O'Donnell asked Appellant to come with him to his police cruiser. R. 8, ll. 7-25. He sat her in the back seat and began his interrogation by leading her back through her earlier statements to law enforcement. O'Donnell's patrol car is equipped with an audio recording system that captured the interrogation. (State's Exhibit 114). O'Donnell's interrogation began around 9:15 p.m. on April 13, 2013. *Id.* By this point in time, Appellant had already given law enforcement her version of events several times.

Appellant explained that she had gone to bed around 11:00 p.m. on April 12 and had allowed a man named Milton Black to borrow her car. R. 300, l.7 - 303, l. 1. Sometime after she

woke-up around 10 a.m. on April 13th, Black came by her house and explained that he had been in accident that damaged the front bumper of her car. *Id.*; (State's Exhibit 114 at 18:16).

He apologized and offered to pay for any repairs before getting into his cousins' car and leaving. (State's 114 at 47:30- 59:50). Appellant then went about her day, running several errands, and having a hair appointment. It was not until later on the afternoon of April 13th that she realized her car had been involved in the accident with Dennis and that Black had stolen her cell phone from her car's center console. *Id.* Without the phone she was unable to contact him.

Appellant stated that she suffered from bi-polar disorder and took several prescription medications to manage her condition. During the course of the interview, Appellant repeatedly asked to smoke a cigarette, but O'Donnell refused to let her smoke. (State's Exhibit 114). Appellant also yawned repeatedly and explained to O'Donnell that she had already told the police what she knew about the collision. *Id.*

Approximately thirteen minutes into the interrogation, O'Donnell advised Appellant of her *Miranda*¹ rights. (State's Exhibit 114 at 13:05). When told she had the right to have a lawyer present and that a lawyer would be provided to her if she could not afford one, Appellant responded "for real?" R. 364, ll. 9-25; R. * (State's Exhibit 114 at 15:00). O'Donnell assured her that a lawyer could be provided, but reiterated throughout the interrogation that she was not under arrest. *Id.*

Forty-five minutes after *Mirandizing* her, Trooper O'Donnell finished leading Appellant through her version of events. He then left the patrol car to confer with the other officers. Appellant was left inside the car, O'Donnell refused to let her speak with her sister, who was standing nearby. (State's Exhibit 114 at 57:00).

¹ *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 426 (1966).

Twenty minutes later, O'Donnell returned to the vehicle and began applying more pressure to Appellant. R. 17, l. 6 - 47, l. 20; (State's Exhibit 114 at 1:12:52). O'Donnell informed Appellant that the other officers at the house wanted to arrest her and that people in the community believed she had been driving the car:

What I've been told, is what we have right now is they are ready to go ahead and arrest you for leaving the scene of an accident resulting in death, failure to yield right of way to on coming traffic, parties to a crime, conspiracy, accessory after fact, failure to give info and render aid. . . . **They're going to seize your car, they're lock up your house, put your kids out, go stay with family or contact DSS. . . . that's where you are right now.**

(State's Exhibit 114 at 1:18:00 - 1:19:56); *see also* R. 17, l. 6 - 53, l. 23. Appellant was audibly crying. O'Donnell also made clear that he believed she was the driver, but reassured her that there must have been extenuating circumstances explaining why she fled the scene. *Id.*

O'Donnell also threatened to arrest her live-in boyfriend as an accomplice because he helped fix the car's bumper. *Id.* O'Donnell explained that "this is your come to Jesus time." Appellant then asked "why did they tell me if I talked to them that it's going to be held against me at law and tell me I can have an attorney present when questioned if they are [going] to lock me up." (State's Exhibit 114 at 1:20:09-1:20:26).

O'Donnell explained that they had not made a decision to arrest Appellant yet. *Id.* Appellant then asked for a cigarette, O'Donnell refused, but stressed that calls from the community identified her as the driver and that her family was worried about her. R. 26, l. 19 - 28, l. 16. O'Donnell's interrogation continued for another forty minutes. Appellant continued to deny that she was driving the vehicle at the time of the accident.

Throughout the interrogation, O'Donnell made clear that he does not believe her version of events. He repeatedly asked her to "clear her conscious" so that she can "rest easy tonight".

(State's Exhibit 114 at 1:33:05). "There are two families suffering, your sister, I mean she is upset, . . . because she knows what's going on and [Appellant's boyfriend] is doing his dangest looking out for you . . . but he is tore up too." *Id.*

Following a pause in the interrogation, O'Donnell told Appellant that she is being placed under arrest. He refused to let her see her two children before being taken to jail and refused to contact Appellant's sister so that she could take custody of her two children. Leveraging the uncertain fate of Appellant's children in one last push for a confession, O'Donnell added:

I don't have any control over that, I'll have to talk to the other officers and see what the options are. Unfortunately that's where you are, they won't let me start giving considerations and things when you're not giving consideration for the circumstances that you're in. I guess that's a good way to put it.

(State's Exhibit 114 at 1:36:58 - 1:39:06). Appellant then asked when she would get a bond hearing. O'Donnell told her that she would get one the next morning along with a public defender, but that she should not expect to be released because of the seriousness of the charges. O'Donnell then again refused Appellant's request to smoke a cigarette.

Immediately before Appellant asked what are the police were going to do with her children. They responded that the children either had to go with Appellant's aunt or with SCDCSS. However, they did not let Appellant contact her aunt prior to taking her to the jail. Where the children ended up after Appellant was arrested was never determined at trial.

***Jackson v. Denno*² Hearing**

The defense moved pre-trial to suppress Appellant's recorded interrogation by Trooper O'Donnell as well as a second recorded interrogation by Trooper Cary Lee Craig conducted on April 16, 2013. R. 44, ll. 4-19.

² 378 U.S. 368 (1964).

When called to testify, O'Donnell stated that once Appellant sat in the back seat of his patrol car, she was no longer free to leave. R. 9, l. 14 - 10, l. 25. O'Donnell testified that Appellant told him she was bi-polar and on medication for the condition that left her sleepy. R. 15, l. 5 - 18. Nevertheless, he believed she was able to cogently answer his questions. *Id.*

The trooper did not recall Appellant ever requesting to speak with an attorney, although he conceded that she seem surprised that she had the right to an attorney. R. 16, ll. 6-24. He believed that she freely and voluntarily agreed to answer his questions. *Id.*

When asked if he promised Appellant leniency or to drop any of the potential charges in exchange for a confession, O'Donnell equivocated:

I believe I said that during the course of our interview after Miranda that if she wanted to -- how I worded it -- the detail or depth of our investigation would be, I guess you could say, adjusted based on her cooperation as far as the interview. We had to seize her car, get a warrant to access her house, take a look at her belongings if she was actually involved in the event. But some of that stuff I think I said were powered down if it's a case of I made a judgment error, things of that nature, is how it was worded
.....

I think I mouthed off some of the charges that was being discussed in the group of officers outside the truck that were not part of the interview, listed to those charges out. But those charges were based on interactions with the investigation one extreme version; but as far as promising her if you do A we'll provide you with B, was not specifically played out.

R. 17, l. 6 - 18, l. 2. On cross-examination, O'Donnell reluctantly acknowledged that he told Appellant that her children would be sent to DSS if she did not cooperate. R. 23, l. 5 - 24, l. 23.

He also reluctantly admitted that he had threatened to arrest her live-in boyfriend as an accessory because he helped her fix the broken bumper. *Id.* O'Donnell did not recall Appellant asking "why did they tell me I could have an attorney present if they're fixing to lock up." R. 24, ll. 7-23.

After taking O'Donnell's testimony, the court ruled that Appellant's statements during the interrogation were freely made and that she never requested an attorney. "[U]nless there is a clear I'm [not] talking anymore, I want a lawyer present, you can talk to me after I have my lawyer, this statement comes in." R. 29, ll. 19-25.

By contrast the trial court ruled that Appellant's statements during the second interrogation by Trooper Craig would be suppressed. R. 71, ll. 3-11. During that interrogation, Appellant immediately stated that she wanted a lawyer. However, Craig continued to ask her questions after informing her that she could speak with a lawyer at a later time. R. 49, l. 2 - 50, l. 10.

The court held that Appellant had made an unambiguous request for an attorney and that, despite Appellant continuing to answer Craig's questions, her statements after the invocation of counsel would be suppressed. R. 52, l. 5 - 57, l. 22; R. 71, ll. 3-11.

Trial

Appellant's statements during Trooper O'Donnell's interrogation were a central feature of the State's case. Assistant Solicitor John Meadors promised jurors during opening statements that "[y]ou'll learn how [Appellant] asked for that bumper to be fixed . . . And finally, you'll hear about how [Appellant] admitted to driving within the vicinity of the accident that night. She admitted to driving near the wreck within an hour of when it happened." R. 78, ll. 6-13.

The recorded interrogation was played for jurors, allowing them to hear O'Donnell's frequent demands that Appellant "clean her conscious" and his repeated warnings that he, the other police officers, and people in the community all believed she was the driver. R. 282, l. 18 - 295, l. 19.

The State also presented evidence at trial that Milton Black, the individual Appellant identified as having borrowed her car on the night of accident, could not be located in a search of multiple law enforcement and DMV databases. However, the officer responsible for conducting the searches also conceded that if Black never had a driver's license he would not appear in the databases. R. 304, l. 2 - 305, l. 5. The State also presented testimony that Appellant had been drinking earlier in the night. R. 328, l. 22 - 329, l. 21.

The State stressed O'Donnell's interrogation again in closing arguments. Solicitor Meadors devoted a substantial portion of his time in front of the jury to reviewing Appellant's version of events in minute detail. R. 357, l. 17 - 368, l. 10.

Discussion

The Fifth Amendment provides that no person shall be compelled to be a witness against himself in a criminal matter. U.S. Const. amend. V. The Fourteenth Amendment secures against state invasion of the same privilege that the Fifth Amendment guarantees against federal infringement. *Malloy v. Hogan*, 378 U.S. 1, 84 S.Ct. 1489 (1964).

“[A] defendant in a criminal case is deprived of due process of law if his conviction is founded, in whole or in part, upon an involuntary confession, without regard for the truth or falsity of the confession.” *Jackson v. Denno*, 378 U.S. 368, 376 (1964). To introduce a statement produced during custodial interrogation, the prosecution must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the statement was made freely and voluntarily, and taken in compliance with *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 426 (1966); see also *State v. Von Dohlen*, 322 S.C. 234, 243, 471 S.E.2d 689, 694 (1996).

The waiver has two distinct dimensions. It must be “**voluntary in the sense that it was the product of a free and deliberate choice rather than intimidation, coercion, or deception,**” and

it must be “made with a full awareness of both the nature of the right being abandoned and the consequences of the decision to abandon it.” *Moran v. Burbine*, 475 U.S. 412, 421, 106 S.Ct. 1135, 1140 (1986)(*emphasis added*).

Courts must answer the question: Did totality of the circumstances surrounding the custodial statement defeat the defendant’s will? *State v. Moses*, 390 S.C. 502, 513, 702 S.E.2d 395, 401 (Ct. App. 2010). “A statement may not be ‘extracted by any sort of threats or violence, [or] obtained by any direct or implied promises, however slight, [or] obtained by the exertion of improper influence.’” *State v. Miller*, 375 S.C. 370, 386, 652 S.E.2d 444, 452 (Ct. App. 2007)(quoting *State v. Rochester*, 301 S.C. 196, 200, 391 S.E.2d 244, 247 (1990)).

For example, in *State v. Corn*, 310 S.C. 546, 426 S.E.2d 546 (Ct. App. 1992), this Court held that the **defendant’s statement to law enforcement admitting that marijuana found in his house belonged exclusively to him was inadmissible after police threatened to arrest his wife and have DSS take custody of their children**. The Court determined that “[a] reading of the record as a whole . . . leads us to the conclusion that, at the very least, the officers coerced Corns confession on the marijuana by means of veiled threats against his family. 310 S.C. at 551, 426 S.E.2d at 327.

Moreover, in *State v. Osborne*, 301 S.C. 363, 392 S.E.2d 178 (1990), the Court held that the sheriff’s admission that Osborne would be charged with withholding information or giving the police officer a false statement if she was not forthcoming mandated suppression of her confession. Osborne was told “you don’t have to say anything, but if you withhold evidence, you can be charged with a crime.” *State v. Osborne*, 301 S.C. at 366, 392 S.E.2d at 179.

In *State v. Rochester*, the Supreme Court held that a confession “may not be extracted by any sort of threats or violence, or obtained by any direct or implied promises, however slight, or by

the exertion of improper influence.” *Rochester*, 301 S.C. 196, 391 S.E.2d 244 (1990) (internal quotations omitted). There, the Court found that a polygraph examiner telling the defendant it would be in his best interest to tell the truth was neither a threat nor a promise. This was nonetheless a factor to consider when determining whether appellant’s statement was a knowing, intelligent, and voluntary tendered confession under the totality of the circumstances.

Finally, in *State v. Hook*, this Court held that the defendant’s statement to his probation officer was inadmissible because his agent expressly threatened to revoke the defendant’s probationary sentence unless he told the truth. *Hook*, 348 S.C. 401, 559 S.E.2d 856 (Ct. App. 2001). This Court noted that statements given pursuant to threats or under inherently coercive circumstances are not admissible. See *Mincey*, 437 U.S. at 398- 399, 98 S.Ct. at 2416-2417; *Minnesota v. Murphy* 465 U.S. 420, 427, 104 S.Ct. 1136, 1142 (1984).

Appellant’s case is, in all material respects, identical to *State v. Corns*, 310 S.C. 546, 426 S.E.2d 324 (Ct. App. 1992). Trooper O’Donnell unambiguously threatened to have SCDSS take custody of Appellant’s children if Appellant did not confess to driving her car at the time of the collision. R. 17, l. 6 - 47, l. 2; R. 26, l. 19 - 28, l. 1; (State’s Exhibit 114 at 1:18:00 - 1:19:56; (State’s Exhibit 114 at 1:36:58 - 1:39:06).

Even more egregiously, in a final effort to have Appellant confess, he offered to intervene on her behalf and to keep her children out of SCDSS custody if she confessed, “I’ll have to talk to the other officers and see what the options are. Unfortunately that’s where you are, they won’t let me start giving considerations and things when you’re not giving consideration for the circumstances that you’re in.” (State’s Exhibit 114 at 1:36:58 - 1:39:06).

He repeatedly predicated keeping her children out of SCDSS custody on her confessing to the crime. To keep the pressure on Appellant, O’Donnell refused her multiple requests to smoke a

cigarette and often stressed that Appellant's sister and family were "suffering" because she would not admit to driving the car. (State 's Exhibit 114 at 1:33:05- 1:36:50); *see Moses*, 390 S.C. at 513, 702 S.E.2d at 401 (factors that may be considered in the totality of the circumstances analysis such as: length of custody or detention; police misrepresentations; threats of violence; direct or indirect promises, however slight); *see also Hook*, 348 S.C. 401, 559 S.E.2d 856.

In addition to threatening to place Appellant's children with DSS, O'Donnell threatened to arrest her live-in boyfriend as an accessory. He also continually referenced Appellant's bi-polar condition and her use of prescription drugs to treat it as possible mitigating circumstances.

As our Supreme Court made clear in *Corn*, threats to remove children from a parent's custody are different than other aggressive interrogation tactics. 310 S.C. at 551-552, 426 S.E.2d at 551-552. As a matter of law, such threats render any resulting statements involuntary and inadmissible. *Id.* at 552, 426 S.E.2d at 327. Appellant also faced threats to arrest her boyfriend in combination with promises of leniency and access to her children if she confessed.

Accordingly, the trial court reversibly erred in admitting Appellant's statements extracted as a result of O'Donnell's threatening to have her children placed with SCDSS and have her boyfriend arrested unless she confessed to driving the car at the time it collided with Dennis.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Appellant's convictions should be reversed and this case remanded to the Sumter County Court of General Sessions for a new trial.

A handwritten signature in black ink, appearing to read "John H. Strom", written over a horizontal line.

John H. Strom
Appellate Defender