STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Sumter County
Honorable William Jeffrey Young, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2015-001160

The State,

Respondent,

vs.

Jacqueline Mesidor,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 15608

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

EARNEST A. FINNEY, III
Solicitor, Third Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The trial court did not err in admitting Appellant's statement when any statements by the officer clearly did not cause her will to be overborne because she never changed her statement and always maintained someone else committed the crime.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State agrees with Appellant's procedural Statement of the Case.

ARGUMENT

- I. **The trial court did not err in admitting Appellant's statement when any statements by the officer clearly did not cause her will to be overborne because she never changed her statement and always maintained someone else committed the crime.**

Appellant contends the trial court erred in failing to suppress statements Appellant gave to Trooper O'Donnell because the statement was not voluntary. She asserts Trooper O'Donnell applied threats causing her statement to be coerced. However, Appellant's will was clearly not overborne because her story to Trooper O'Donnell never changed even after the alleged threats occurred. Further, even if the threats somehow rendered the second part of her statement involuntary, the first portion of her statement was clearly admissible and any subsequent statement was merely cumulative.

In criminal cases, the appellate court only reviews errors of law and is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless the findings are clearly erroneous. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). The trial court's factual conclusions as to the voluntariness of a statement will not be disturbed on appeal unless so manifestly erroneous as to show an abuse of discretion. State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 136, 551 S.E.2d 240, 252 (2001). When reviewing a trial court's ruling concerning voluntariness, this Court does not reevaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence, but simply determines whether the trial court's ruling is supported by any evidence. Id.

"In order to introduce into evidence a confession arising from custodial interrogation, the State must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the statement was made freely and voluntarily, and taken in compliance with Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S.Ct. 1602, 16 L.Ed.2d 694 (1966)." State v. Moses, 390 S.C. 502, 512, 702 S.E.2d 395, 400 (Ct. App. 2010).

“Once a voluntary waiver of the Miranda rights is made, that waiver continues until the individual being questioned indicates that he wants to revoke the waiver and remain silent or circumstances exist which establish that his ‘will has been overborne and his capacity for self-determination critically impaired.’” State v. Rochester, 301 S.C. 196, 200, 391 S.E.2d 244, 246 (1990) (quoting State v. Moultrie, 273 S.C. 60, 62, 254 S.E.2d 294, 295 (1979)).

The United States Supreme Court explained the danger of involuntary, coerced statements:

It is now inescapably clear that the Fourteenth Amendment forbids the use of involuntary confessions not only because of the probable unreliability of confessions that are obtained in a manner deemed coercive, but also because of the “strongly felt attitude of our society that important human values are sacrificed where an agency of the government, in the course of securing a conviction, wrings a confession out of an accused against his will,” and because of “the deep-rooted feeling that the police must obey the law while enforcing the law; that in the end life and liberty can be as much endangered from illegal methods used to convict those thought to be criminals as from the actual criminals themselves.”

Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368, 385–86 (1964) (internal citations omitted).

“The test of voluntariness is whether a defendant’s will was overborne by the circumstances surrounding the giving of a confession.” State v. Goodwin, 384 S.C. 588, 601, 683 S.E.2d 500, 507 (Ct. App. 2009) (citing Dickerson v. U.S., 530 U.S. 428, 434 (2000)). This Court has explained: “The test of voluntariness is ‘whether a defendant’s will was overborne’ by the circumstances surrounding the given [statement]. The due process test takes into consideration ‘the totality of all the surrounding circumstances—both the characteristics of the accused and the details of the interrogation.’” State v. Miller, 375 S.C. 370, 384, 652 S.E.2d 444, 451 (Ct. App. 2007) (citing, *inter alia*, Dickerson, 530 U.S. at 434 (2000); State v. Aleksey, 343 S.C. 20, 30, 538 S.E.2d 248, 253 (2000); State v. Linnen, 278 S.C. 175, 179, 293 S.E.2d 851,

853 (1982); State v. Gillian, 360 S.C. 433, 458, 602 S.E.2d 62, 76 (Ct. App. 2004)). Some of the elements to be considered in determining whether a statement is voluntary include: 1) the crucial element of police coercion; 2) the length of the interrogation; 3) its location; 4) its continuity; 5) the defendant's maturity; 6) education; 7) physical condition; and 8) mental health. See Withrow v. Williams, 507 U.S. 680, 693-694 (1993) (citations omitted). "They also include the failure of police to advise the defendant of his rights to remain silent and to have counsel present during custodial interrogation." Id. A statement may not be "extracted by any sort of threats or violence, [or] obtained by any direct or implied promises, however slight, [or] obtained by the exertion of improper influence." Rochester, 301 S.C. at 200, 391 S.E.2d at 247 (citing Hutto v. Ross, 429 U.S. 28, 97 S.Ct. 202, 50 L.Ed.2d 194 (1976)). The United State Supreme Court has also explained: "[C]ases in which a defendant can make a colorable argument that a self-incriminating statement was 'compelled' despite the fact that the law enforcement authorities adhered to the dictates of Miranda are rare." Berkemer v. McCarty, 468 U.S. 420, 433 n.20 (1984).

First, it is clear in the instant case Appellant's will was not overborne by any alleged threats by Trooper O'Donnell. Prior to the threats identified by Appellant in her brief, she provided a completely voluntary statement to Trooper O'Donnell in which she explained her movements and actions throughout the day prior to the time of the accident. She explained the people she associated with, where they met, and what they did during the day. She explained how she took one of the individuals home, going near the location where the victim was struck by Appellant's vehicle. Finally, she maintained she loaned her vehicle to an individual named Milton Black prior to the time of the victim being struck and that she went to bed only to arise to

Milton returning the vehicle damaged. (State's Exhibit 114).¹ After the comments by Trooper O'Donnell, which Appellant alleges were threats and pressure tactics to force her to confess, **Appellant did not change her story.** She **never** confessed.

Specifically, Appellant made very few statements after the alleged threats made by Trooper O'Donnell. Immediately after the alleged threats, she asked: "Why did they tell me if I talked to them that it's going to be held against me at law and tell me I can have an attorney present when questioned if they are fixing to lock me up?" (State's Exhibit 114 at 1:20:09-1:20:26). She then stated: "I just wish y'all would really investigate and find Milton." (State's Exhibit 114 at 1:21:50-1:21:57). "I would really just want to talk to my sister and get some advice right now because I've . . . talked, I've been telling . . . you everything I know." (State's Exhibit 114 at 1:22:45-1:22:53). Appellant then talks about seeing the victim several hours before he was struck and killed, and when questioned about seeing him before she got into a wreck with him, she responds: "I saw him before a couple hours that they said he got into a wreck." (State's Exhibit 114 at 1:36:17-1:36:22). They then discuss what will happen to her kids, and after Appellant asks when she will get a bond hearing. She then asks: "How do I get the lawyer to prove that it wasn't me driving?" (State's Exhibit 114 at 1:38:34-1:38:37). None of these statements sound like the statements of a person whose will has been overborne and has been coerced into giving the statements. She is maintaining the exact same story as she provided

¹ Appellant seems to maintain because over forty-five minutes into the statement Trooper O'Donnell makes allegedly coercive statements then the entire statement should be excluded, even the portion that occurred before the allegedly coercive statements. This is illogical and not what is required when a statement is suppressed. The first portion of Appellant's statement is unquestionably voluntary. She was read Miranda, voluntarily told Trooper O'Donnell her version of the facts, and never was under any kind of coercive or threatening pressure. As a result, the first portion of her statement to Trooper O'Donnell is properly admitted regardless of this Court's decision regarding the second portion of the statement. See e.g., State v. Lee, 670 S.E.2d 879, 881 (Ga. App. 2008) ("[A]ny hope of benefit given by the police to a defendant *after* the defendant has already confessed cannot be said to have induced the confession and thus does not affect its voluntary nature.") (italics in original).

before any alleged threats were made. As a result, none of her statements were coerced or involuntarily made and the trial court correctly admitted the statements to the jury.

Further, this case is clearly distinguishable from State v. Corns, 310 S.C. 546, 426 S.E.2d 324 (Ct. App. 1992). In Corns, the officer “informed Corns he had a warrant for Corns’s wife, that his wife could be arrested, and that the Department of Social Services could take his children.” The Court explained after the statements by the officer “Corns was very uneasy and then stated something to the effect of ‘I’ll plead guilty to the marijuana, just don’t mess with my wife and kids.’” Id. at 549, 426 S.E.2d at 325. This Court found: “the testimony of the officers conceding they informed Corns his wife could be arrested, that she could be ‘involved in the marijuana,’ and that their children could be taken from them amounted to an exertion of improper influence rendering Corns’s statement involuntary.” Id. at 552, 426 S.E.2d at 327.

The statements by Trooper O’Donnell were very different and certainly had a different impact in this case. Trooper O’Donnell indicated she could be arrested for numerous crimes applicable to the facts of the case and then stated: “They’re going to seize your car, they’re gonna lock down your house, put your kids out, go stay with family or contact DSS.” (State’s Exhibit 114 at 1:19:08-1:19:15). After she asks about why she was told what she said could be used against her and they would get her an attorney, Trooper O’Donnell reminded her: “you can stop talking any time if you want.” (State’s Exhibit 114 at 1:20:30-1:20:33). The circumstances of this interaction are much different than those recorded in Corns which clearly impacted the defendant and immediately caused him to confess. In this case, as discussed above, Appellant never confessed and did not change her story after the comments above made by Trooper O’Donnell. It is clear she was not “uneasy” as was Corns, and she took no action to prevent the

Trooper or others from doing exactly what he said he would unlike Corns who confessed to prevent his wife and kids from becoming involved.

This case is more similar to State v. Goodwin, 384 S.C. 588, 683 S.E.2d 500 (Ct. App. 2009). In Goodwin, the defendant maintained “his will was overborne by the culmination of police tactics used during his interrogation.” Id. at 602, 683 S.E.2d at 508. He cited “the officers’ lying about evidence, threatening inappropriate and unjustifiable police action against his family members, strongly suggesting they could influence the State’s decision to seek the death penalty, and numerous emotional appeals relating to his family.” Id. After describing the circumstances and Goodwin’s characteristics, this Court concluded “the officers did not create an environment that caused Goodwin’s will be to overborne, and when viewing the totality of the circumstances surrounding Goodwin’s statements, evidence exists to support the trial court’s determination that the statements were voluntary.” Id. at 603, 683 S.E.2d at 508.

The circumstances of Goodwin’s interrogation are very similar to Appellant’s. She attended two years of college and had no serious mental or physical conditions which impacted the interrogation. Further, the interrogation was in a police vehicle on her property, included several breaks in the interrogation during which time she spoke to several people on the phone, lasted less than an hour and a half, and as discussed did not include any significant elements of coercion. Even though she was reminded several times of her right not to speak to Trooper O’Donnell and of her right to an attorney, at no time during the interrogation did Appellant state she wished to stop the questioning, and she never requested an attorney. This Court, as it did in Goodwin, should find the evidence supports the trial court’s conclusion the statements given by Appellant were knowing and voluntary and her will was not overborne rendering them inadmissible.

Finally, any error in failing to suppress the portion of the statement which occurred after the alleged coercive comments is entirely harmless in light of the fact she never changed her story and all the information provided occurred during the portion of her statement before the alleged threats and coercion. As the first portion of the statements were voluntarily made and appropriately admitted, anything admitted after that portion was entirely cumulative and could not have reasonably impacted the verdict of the jury. See State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 212, 631 S.E.2d 262, 267 (2006) (“Generally, appellate courts will not set aside convictions due to insubstantial errors not affecting the result. Error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt where it did not contribute to the verdict obtained.”); State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 507, 435 S.E.2d 859, 862 (1993) (any error in admission of evidence cumulative to other un-objected to evidence is harmless).

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.